1969

**Herschel J. Saperstein, Trustee In Bankruptcy of the Estate Of
Wheat Bros. Painters & Decorators v. First Security Bank of Utah,
N. A. : Brief of Appellant**

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

Plaintiff seeks to set aside alleged preferential transfers of money under Section 60 of the Bankruptcy Act, claiming that defendant obtained money in violation of the Act from Wheat Bros. Painters & Decorators, a partnership, for which plaintiff is the trustee in bankruptcy.

DISPOSITION OF THE LOWER COURT

The case was tried February 24, 1969, before the Honorable Stewart M. Hanson, sitting without a jury, subsequent to which a judgment was rendered in favor of plaintiff and against defendant for the sum of \$27,331.25, together with interest in the amount of \$3,624.62, and costs. Defendant's motion to amend the findings, conclusions and decree was denied on June 30, 1969.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks reversal of the lower court judgment, claiming that no preferential transfers were effected which could be voided or recovered by the trustee.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Wheat Bros., painters and decorators, was a partnership consisting of James L. Wheat, John Wheat and Joseph Wheat (R. 47), which had been a customer of First Security Bank since about 1950 (R. 74). During the months preceding the filing of the petition in bankruptcy, the partnership maintained a checking account at the Sugarhouse Office of the Bank. The partnership also borrowed money from the Bank from time to time.

On May 19, 1965, the Company signed a ninety day note in favor of the Bank for \$5,000.00 (Exhibit P-14). On or about June 1, 1965, the Company submitted a financial statement to the Bank which showed assets of \$95,342.00 and liabilities of \$16,000.00 (Exhibit D-15). On July 13, 1965, the Company signed a second ninety day note for \$5,000.00 (Exhibit P-14)

From August 9th through September 21st, the Company had a continuous overdraft which became increasingly larger until at the close of business on September 21st the Company had an overdraft of \$18,768.28 (Exhibit P-12). During the period of the overdraft, officers of the Bank visited the Company and also talked with the partners over the telephone concerning the overdraft. The Company reassured the Bank that deposits would soon be forthcoming which would more than cover the overdraft (Exhibit D-18). On

September 10th the Company made a deposit of \$3,986.70 and on September 15th it made another deposit for \$3,411.00 (Exhibit P-12).

After the close of business on September 21st, the Company made a deposit of \$21,320.08 (Exhibit P-10). No conversations were held regarding the purpose or effect of that deposit (R. 81). The bulk of that deposit was a check from Jacobsen Construction Company for \$18,150.00 (Exhibit P-11). The next morning, September 22nd, the Bank endorsed the Jacobsen check for collection and sent it by messenger over to Zions Bank where a cashier's check was obtained for the amount of the Jacobsen check (R. 82). Thereafter, the Wheat Bros. deposit was automatically set off against the overdraft giving Wheat Bros. a credit balance against which they drafted checks (R. 85-6).

On September 24th a deposit was made by the Company for \$997.56 and another deposit was made on September 29th for \$3,283.03 (Exhibit P-12). On or about September 28th the Company submitted another financial statement to the Bank. Although this financial statement presented a different picture to the Bank than had been seen previously, the statement still showed assets of \$68,800.00 and liabilities of only \$38,800.00 (Exhibit D-19, R. 104-5). During the period of time from September 22nd to October 4th, the Company continued to draw checks against their credit balance with the Bank.

On October 4, 1965, the Company made a deposit with the Bank of \$7,384.00, with no prior conversations regarding the purpose of the deposit. Later on that same day, the Bank

set off \$5,131.25 against the note that had fallen due on August 17, 1965 (R. 96). After that setoff, the Company again had a credit balance against which it drafted checks. Another deposit was made on October 8, 1965, of \$3,696.38 (Exhibit P-12).

On October 14, 1965, John Wheat collapsed in the office of the Company and was taken to the hospital where he remained for a period of one month (R. 53). The next day the Wheat Bros.' payroll was due and upon checking, Joe Wheat found insufficient funds in the bank account to pay the employees. Therefore, Joe collected enough accounts receivables to meet the payroll and on October 18th made a deposit of \$4,153.48 to cover the payroll checks. The Bank officers did not know of the purpose of the deposit, nor was any arrangement made with respect thereto (R. 53-4). Later that day, the Bank made a setoff of \$4,050.00 against the second note which had fallen due on October 11, 1965 (R. 97).

On October 19, 1965, Joe Wheat laid off all employees and shut the Company down except for some minor jobs which he finished himself. The next day, October 20th, Joe and Jim Wheat went to the Bank to talk with Mr. Bentley W. Vincent and Mr. Boyd A. Lindquist, the manager and assistant manager, respectively, of the Sugarhouse Office. Joe told Mr. Vincent that the Company had receivables of \$18,000.00 and debts of over \$70,000.00 (R. 57).

On December 8, 1965, voluntary petitions in bankruptcy were filed by Wheat Bros. Painters & Decorators, a partnership, and its three partners individually (Exhibit P-1

through P-4). The partnership schedules in bankruptcy show liabilities in the amount of \$73,053.99 and assets in the amount of \$17,127.00 (Exhibit P-1).

ARGUMENT

POINT I

A. THE DEPOSITS AND SETOFFS BETWEEN WHEAT BROS. AND THE BANK DO NOT CONSTITUTE PREFERENTIAL TRANSFERS UNDER SECTION 60 OF THE BANKRUPTCY ACT

The most pertinent parts of Section 60 of the Bankruptcy Act state:

“Section 60. Preferred Creditors.

a.(1) A preference is a transfer, as defined in this act, of any of the property of a debtor to or for the benefit of a creditor for or on account of an antecedent debt, made or suffered by such debtor while insolvent and within four months before the filing by or against him of the petition initiating a proceeding under this Act, the effect of which transfer will be to enable such creditor to obtain a greater percentage of his debt than some other creditor of the same class.

* * * * *

“b. Any such preference may be avoided by the trustee if the creditor receiving it or to be benefited thereby or his agent acting with reference thereto has, at the time when the transfer is made, reasonable cause to believe that the debtor is insolvent.”

Plaintiff alleged and the lower court held that the deposits and setoffs were preferential transfers under Sec-

tion 60 of the Bankruptcy Act. Appellant strongly urges that such a holding is in error, and that this case clearly comes under Section 68(a) of the Act which is set forth and discussed under Point B hereinafter. Therefore, defendant asserts that the elements of a preferential transfer on which plaintiff relies are irrelevant in this case and ought not to be considered.

As the Court is well aware, when a deposit is made with a bank a relationship of debtor and creditor is created. Since the depositor owed the bank debts because of the overdraft and overdue notes, a condition of mutual debts was created between the Bank and the Bankrupt. That brings the fact situation under Section 68(a) and not under Section 60. Had the bank not exercised its right of setoff, the referee in bankruptcy would have been required to set off the mutual debts.

That Section 68 is the governing Section in this case is clear from a statement found in 4 *Collier on Bankruptcy* (14th Ed.) par. 60.15:

“The basic problem, however, becomes infinitely more complex when the situation arises, as is often the case, where the bank is a creditor of depositor and the depositor is insolvent. *Tested by the requirements of Section 60, deposits made in the ordinary course of business in such situations are not preferential transfers.* As pointed out by the Supreme Court, there is nothing in the Act which prevents an insolvent from conducting his business in the usual way, or prohibits banks from dealing with him on that basis. But a complication arises due to the fact that Section 68 of the Act permits a setoff in the case of Mutual Debts

and Credits, and the use of this privilege, which in reality effects a legal preference, by a creditor bank in connection with the deposit of insolvent debtor obviously opens the way to an indirect accomplishment of results generally prohibited by Section 60.

“In an effort to reconcile these provisions of the Bankruptcy Act, and at the same time prevent abuse, the courts have long since evolved a workable set of principles. . . . Summarized briefly, *it was well settled, prior to the Act of 1938, that deposits made in the ordinary course of business generally upon an open account and subject to withdrawal by check, were not preferential transfers, even if made while the debtor was insolvent and the bank had knowledge or notice of the depositor's insolvency. . . .*

“The doctrine that banks could under certain conditions accept deposits of a known insolvent and yet subsequently exercise the privilege of setoff gave rise to criticism in some quarters. Consequently, when the Act of 1938 was in its preliminary stages, certain amendments to Section 68 were proposed which would have altered the recognized rules. The amendments were not adopted, however, when the bill was finally enacted into law. Therefore, *despite the fact that the term ‘transfer’ under Section 60 now has a wider significance than formerly, and notwithstanding also that Section 68 was extensively revised to strike down preferences, whether effected directly or by remote obscure devices, it is quite clear that there was no intention to alter the accepted law as to make deposits.*

“It has been suggested by one well known authority that while the principles relating to bank deposits and bank setoffs are grounded in common-sense and practical business policy, they can hardly be reconciled

with the express terms of the Act. However, this may be, the principles here stated and analyzed more fully under Section 68 have the sanction of the overwhelming weight of authority and should still govern where applicable." (emphasis added)

An annotation found at 85 ALR 369, 372 (1933) also states that the general rule is that a bank setoff is not a preference:

"The general rule is that the deposit by an insolvent, in a bank to which he is indebted, though within four months of the filing of the petition in bankruptcy, is not a transfer of property amounting to a preference within the meaning of the Bankruptcy Act, so as to preclude the bank's right of setoff accorded by the act, provided the deposit is in the usual course of business, to the open or general account of the depositor, subject to check (as subsequently shown, this rule applies even though the bank knows at the time that the depositor is insolvent.)"

In the case of *Citizens' National Bank vs. Lineberger*, 45 F.2d 522 (4th Cir. 1930), the Court, after stating that an ordinary deposit is not a "transfer" within the meaning of the Bankruptcy Act, said:

"A deposit in a bank is not a sale or parting with property, or its possession, as a payment, pledge, mortgage, gift, or security. It does not deplete the estate of the depositor, but results in substituting for currency, bank notes, checks, drafts, and other bankable items a corresponding credit with the bank, which may be checked against, and which provides the depositor with the medium of exchange in universal use in the transaction of business. A deposit of funds differs from a

payment in the essential particular that it is withdrawable at the will of the depositor. Of course, a deposit may be made the cloak for some other transaction, such as payment or the giving of security; and in such case equity, which looks through form to substance, will treat the transaction according to its real nature. But if the deposit is in reality a deposit, made in good faith as such, subject to the withdrawal of the depositor, and not made as a cloak for a payment or other forbidden transaction, it is not a transfer within the meaning of the Bankruptcy Act and cannot be attacked as preferential, even though it may have been made when the depositor was insolvent, and even though the bank, by applying it as a setoff, may have obtained a greater percentage on a debt which it holds against its insolvent depositor than his other creditors can obtain." *Lineberger* at 527-28

Appellant claims that the case of *Hall vs. Rochester Trust Co.*, 9 F. Supp. 797 (D.C.N.H. 1935), correctly states the law as to when Section 68(a) is applicable as opposed to Section 60:

"It is true that if the deposits by the company had been made in the defendant bank for the purpose of creating a right of setoff or if there had been any collusion between the bankrupt and the bank to enable the bank to receive a greater percentage of its debts than any other unsecured creditor, then the transaction might be held to create a preference under section 60a. But such is not the fact in the instant case. I find there was nothing unusual or out of the ordinary in the transaction between the parties. They continued doing business in the usual and ordinary way right up to the time of the common-law assignment. The deposits were not made for the purpose of giving the bank a

preference and the bank had no reasonable cause to believe that the Leavitt Company was insolvent to the extent that it would not continue to meet its obligations.

“I hold that the bank was within its rights when it on November 4, 1932, charged the bankrupt’s account with \$3,718.52, and that the case is governed by section 68a of the Bankruptcy Act and not by section 60a as *New York County Bank v. Massey*, supra; In re *Scherzer* (D.C.) 130 F. 631; In re *Myers* (D.C.) 99 F. 691; *Toof v. City National Bank of Paducah* (C.C. A.) 206 F. 250.” *Hall* at 800.

In the case on appeal, the Court should apply Section 68(a) and not Section 60. The record evidences absolutely no collusion between the Bank and the Company. The Bank clearly had a right to set off the deposits it received from the bankrupt, and such setoff is governed by Section 68(a).

POINT I.

B. UNDER SECTION 68(a) OF THE BANKRUPTCY ACT, THE BANK HAD A RIGHT TO SETOFF THE DEPOSITS MADE BY WHEAT BROS. AGAINST THE DEBTS OWED BY WHEAT BROS. TO THE BANK.

Section 68(a) of the Bankruptcy Act provides that:

a. In all cases of mutual debts or mutual credits between the estate of a bankrupt and a creditor the account shall be stated and one debt shall be set off against the other, and the value only shall be allowed or paid.

The rule that a bank may set off deposits against debts owed to it by the depositor is clear and supported by the

great weight of authority. When Wheat Bros. made deposits on September 21, October 4 and on October 18, the Bank was within its rights to set these deposits off against the overdraft and notes that were owing to the bank.

Collier, who is considered the foremost expert on bankruptcy, states that:

“The general rule may first be stated that where an insolvent debtor makes general deposits within four months of his bankruptcy, which deposits are accepted in good faith and in the regular course of business, the bank has a right to set off such deposits against an obligation owing to it by the debtor . . .

It is only where affairs have reached such a point that the bank accepts the deposits for the purpose of payment, or of giving itself a subsequent advantage over other creditors through its right of setoff, or for some other special purpose, that the deposit and the subsequent application of it amounts to a reasonable preference. 4 *Collier on Bankruptcy* (14th Ed.) par. 68.16.

Another text states that the *deposit* is the key factor in the allowability of a setoff and not the *setoff*.

The right of setoff existing under the Bankruptcy Act raises some peculiar questions of preference in the case of deposits in a bank which holds obligations of the depositor. *It is the making of the deposit, and not the subsequent application of it by way of setoff to the debt of the bank, that constitutes the preference, if any, under the Bankruptcy Act.*

A deposit in the usual course of business in good faith to the open or general account of the depositor, subject to his check, does not result in a preferential transfer,

notwithstanding it may place the bank in position, in the event of the depositor's bankruptcy, to set off the deposit against his debt to the bank. The rule applies to a deposit made subject to the collection of the different items thereof if the intent at the time of the deposit was that checks against it would be honored when the items were collected. The principal reason which the courts have assigned for the rule is that when a deposit is made under the circumstances indicated, there is no diminution of the depositor's estate, since he thereby receives an equivalent credit, which is immediately available to him. 9 Am. Jur. 2d Bankruptcy Sec. 525 (1963). (emphasis added)

That the deposits were made in the usual course of business will be discussed under Point II.

There are many cases wherein the court has upheld a bank's right to a setoff under Section 68. Perhaps the most frequently cited case is the United States Supreme Court case of *New York County National Bank vs. Massey*, 192 U.S. 138, 48 L.Ed. 380 (1904). In that case the Court specifically approved a setoff by the bank from a depositor's account, to pay part of an overdue note. The Court held that the setoff was not a voidable transfer, and that it was a permissible setoff under Section 68 of the Act. The following statements are of importance:

“As we have seen, a deposit of money to one's credit in a bank does not operate to diminish the estate of the depositor, for when he parts with the money he creates at the same time, on the part of the bank, an obligation to pay the amount of the deposit as soon as the depositor may see fit to draw a check against it. It is not a transfer of property as a payment, pledge,

mortgage, gift, or security. It is true that it creates a debt, which, if the creditor may set it off under Section 68, amounts to permitting a creditor of that class to obtain more from the bankrupt's estate than creditors who are not in the same situation, and do not hold any debts of the bankrupt subject to set-off. But this does not, in our opinion, operate to enlarge the scope of the statute defining preferences so as to prevent set-off in cases coming within the terms of Section 68a.

* * * * *

“It is true, as we have seen, that in a sense the bank is permitted to obtain a greater percentage of its claim against the bankrupt than other creditors of the same class, but this indirect result is not brought about by the transfer of property within the meaning of the law. There is nothing in the findings to show fraud or collusion between the bankrupt and the bank with a view to create a preferential transfer of the bankrupt's property to the bank, and in the absence of such showing we cannot regard the deposit as having other effect than to create a debt to the bankrupt, and not a diminution of his estate.” *Massey* at 147.

We submit that the case at bar falls directly within the rule announced by the United States Supreme Court in the *Massey* case. A very similar holding is given by the Supreme Court in *Studley vs. Boylston National Bank of Boston*, 229 U.S. 523, 57 L. Ed. 1313 (1913), where the Court again specifically approved setoffs by a bank within four months before bankruptcy and declared them not to be voidable transfers.

“For there is nothing in the statute which deprives a bank, with whom an insolvent is doing business, of the rights of any other creditor taking money

without reasonable cause to believe that a preference will result from the payment. The Bankruptcy Act contemplates that by remaining in business and at work, an insolvent may become able to pay off his debts. It does not prevent him from continuing in trade, depositing money in bank, drawing checks and paying debts as they mature, either to his own bank or any other creditor." *Studley* at 526.

The case of *White vs. Pacific Southwest Trust & Savings Bank*, (9 F.2d 650 (D.C.S.O. Cal. 1926)), contains a rather extensive discussion on many factors of bankruptcy law in a case where disgruntled creditors were attempting to set aside a court approved agreement under which two banks were permitted to retain funds received by them from the setoff of the bankrupt's accounts, even though the banks had been parties to creditors' agreements during a period of insolvency. The Court did not require the banks to return the money, stating as law:

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