1969

**Herschel J. Saperstein, Trustee In Bankruptcy of the Estate Of
Wheat Bros. Painters & Decorators v. First Security Bank of Utah,
N. A. : Brief of Respondent**

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

SECTION 68 OF THE BANKRUPTCY ACT (11 U.S.C. §108) HAS NO APPLICATION TO THIS CASE.

Plaintiff agrees that if the Wheat Bros. deposits had been made in good faith, and in the ordinary course of business, defendant would have a right of set off by virtue of §68a of the Bankruptcy Act. But it is plaintiff's position in the present case that the preferential transfers occurred when the deposits were made, not when the bank set off the deposits in payment of Wheat Bros. debts. In order for §68a to apply, the deposits must have been made in good faith, in the ordinary course of business, and in a general account subject to withdrawal.

In actions brought under Section 60 of the Bankruptcy Act, bank deposits have frequently been given special treatment, with and without reference to Section 68, for the reason that although there is admittedly a "transfer of property" by the depositor to the bank, the transfer is often made in the regular course of business, the depositor having the right to draw checks upon the amount so deposited. All of the cases recognized, how-

ever, that whether a bank deposit is a voidable preference depends upon the circumstances under which the deposit was made. This is pointed out in 3 *Collier on Bankruptcy* (14th Ed.), Para. 60.15:

“As a general proposition it has been asserted that such a deposit of funds differs from other payments or transfers of money or property as contemplated by Section 60, in that it is withdrawable at the will of the depositor and does not operate actually to diminish the depositor’s estate. The reasoning has been that the ordinary deposit results in substituting for currency, bank notes, checks, drafts and other bankable items a corresponding credit with the bank which may be checked against or withdrawn, and which provides the depositor with the medium of exchange in universal use in the transaction of business.
* * *

Because of the possibility that banks, partly under authority of Section 68 of the Bankruptcy Act, might utilize deposits to effect prohibited preferences, the courts have gradually worked out a set of principles, governing bank deposits. They are summarized in 4 *Collier on Bankruptcy* (14th Ed.), Para. 68.16[2]:

“The general rule may first be stated that where an insolvent debtor makes general deposits within four months of his bankruptcy, which deposits are accepted in good faith and in the regular course of business, the bank has a right to set off such deposits against an obligation owing to it by the depositor. * * *

“It is only where affairs have reached such a point that the bank accepts the deposit for the

purpose of payment, or of giving itself a subsequent advantage over other creditors through its right of set-off, or for some other special purpose, that the deposit and the subsequent application of it amounts to a recoverable preference.”

The courts are in agreement that when a deposit is accepted for the purpose of payment of a debt, it constitutes a transfer of property which is voidable under Section 60 and is not protected by the set-off provisions of Section 68 of Bankruptcy Act.

In *Schmidt v. Bank of Commerce*, 150 N.M. 470, 110 Pac. 613 (1910), a trustee had brought action against a bank for recovery of a deposit as a voidable preference. The trustee prevailed in the lower court and on appeal the bank contended that it had the right to set off for the reason that the deposit had been received in due course of business. The New Mexico Supreme Court said:

“The court finds that the appellant persuaded and induced the bankrupt to pay to them the amount of money involved in this action for the express purpose and with the intent to apply the same upon the indebtedness then owing by the bankrupt to appellant. This being so, no question of the right of set-off for money deposited in the ordinary course of business, arises.”

In *First National Bank of El Central v. Harper*, 254 Fed. 641 (9 Cir., 1918), it was held that where deposits are made not in the usual course of business, but to cover an overdraft, there is a preferential payment and the set off doctrine will not apply. And in *In re*

Henry C. Reusch & Co., 44 F. Supp. 677 (D.C. N.J., 1942), the court held that a bank deposit made not in the usual course of business, but with the intent that the deposit be applied to payment of an existing debt, is a transfer of property and a preference within the meaning of the Bankruptcy Act.

Kane v. First National Bank of El Paso, Texas, 56 F.2d 534 (5th Cir., 1932), was a case in which a particular set off was upheld, but the bank recognized the rule applicable to the present case, saying:

“We think that a deposit, though made by an insolvent, if in due course of business and really and in good faith *intended* at the time *by the bank to create an equivalent liability to honor the checks* to the depositor, is not a present depletion of the depositor’s estate, but is a valid banking transaction which may be set off thereafter; *but if the bank in accepting the deposit does not intend to become liable to the depositor, but intends to get payment by set-off, the advantage obtained is rendered voidable* by a bankruptcy within four month.” [Emphasis added.]

The limitation on a bank’s rights to receive deposits and apply them on indebtedness is well stated in *Citizens National Bank of Gastonia, N. C. v. Linberger*, 45 F.2d 522, 529 (1930), wherein the court stated:

“Of course, where deposits are not made in the regular course of business, as where they are made fraudulently and collusively for the purpose of giving the bank a preference, *or where they are not in reality deposits at all, but are pay-*

ments, the right of set-off does not exist, and they may be recovered as preferential." [Emphasis added.]

The rule is again well stated in 4 *Collier on Bankruptcy* (14th Ed.), Para. 68.16[2.1], where the following statement is found:

"As previously indicated, it is absolutely essential that before a bank can exercise its right and use the bankrupt's deposits as an offset, the deposits in question must have been accepted in good faith in the ordinary course of business. *The usual general deposits made on an open checking account subject to withdrawal at will constitutes the type of deposits which will more often be considered above suspicion. But if the deposits are not accepted in the ordinary course of business, or are procured, accepted or 'built up' for the real purpose of permitting the bank to obtain a set-off, the deposits will be considered voidable preferential transfers and the right of set off is lost. * * **" [Emphasis added.]

See also, Annotation, "Set-off by Bank Against Bankrupt's Deposit as a Preference Within the Bankruptcy Act," 85 A.L.R. 369; and 9 Am. Jur. 2d, Bankruptcy, §526.

The trial court found that the deposits in question were *not* made in the ordinary course of business, but for the purpose of paying an antecedent debt. They were accepted by defendant for that purpose, without regard to the intent of the depositor, and as the foregoing cases show, a mutual intent in this regard is not

necessary. The question is whether defendant accepted the deposits to let Wheat Bros. draw checks on them or whether it accepted them for the purpose of paying its debts.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDINGS OF FACTS SHOULD BE UPHELD UNLESS THEY ARE CLEARLY AGAINST THE WEIGHT OF EVIDENCE.

The argument of the defendant that the deposits made by Wheat Bros. were in good faith and in the regular course of business and that it did not know or have reasonable cause to believe that Wheat Bros. was insolvent at the time the deposits were made, must be considered in light of the fact that the issues were tried to the court on conflicting evidence, in a situation in which the court had an opportunity to consider the demeanor of the bank's officers. On the conflicting evidence the issues were determined against the defendant bank.

The Utah constitution, Article VIII, Section 9 provides that in equity cases the appeal may be on questions of both law and fact, while in cases of law "the appeal shall be on questions of law alone."

Under that provision this court has consistently recognized that in reviewing the findings and conclu-

sions in an action at law the trial court will be sustained unless that is no legitimate proof to support them, *Lyman v. Town of Price*, 63 Utah 90, 222 Pac. 599 (1924); or where there is “substantial evidence” to support them, *Osborn v. Peters*, 69 Utah 391, 255 Pac. 435 (1927) or unless the evidence “clearly through preponderates” against the decision, *Barker v. Dunham*, 9 Utah 2d 244, 342 P.2d 867 (1959).

Article VIII, Section 9 does not define “law” or “equity” cases for the purpose of determining the scope of review, and admittedly, the question needs to be re-examined from time to time in light of new actions, statutory proceedings, and remedies which may be provided under our general statute relating to the right to trial by jury.

We have been unable to find any Utah cases in which a determination has been made as to whether an action to avoid preferences under Section 60b of the Bankruptcy Act is an “equity case” or a “case at law” for the purposes of review under the provisions of Article VIII, Section 9, Utah Constitution. But most other courts, including the federal courts, have regarded 60b proceedings as essentially law actions. Certainly they are more like law than equitable actions since there is nothing in them upon which the discretion of the judge or chancellor is required to operate.

The accepted principle is stated in 5 *Moore's Federal Practice*, Para. 38.30[4], as follows:

“ * * * Section 60b of the Bankruptcy Act provides that ‘Where the preference is voidable, the trustee may recover the property or, if it has been converted, its value from any person who has received or converted such property, except a bona-fide purchaser from or a lienor of the debtor’s transferee for a present fair equivalent value * * *’ At one time, prior to the Federal Rules, there was a division of authority whether the trustee’s plenary action, if brought in a federal district court, should be on the law or equity side of the court—in other words whether it was a ‘jury’ or ‘court’ case. The Court in *Schoenthal v. Irving Trust Company* [287 U.S. 92, 95, 53 Sup. Ct. 50, 77 L. Ed. 185 (1932)] settled the matter by applying the same principles that it was accustomed to apply to other civil actions * * * As applied to a plenary action under the Rules the case means simply that if either the plaintiff or the defendant makes a timely demand for jury, an action by the trustee to recover a money judgment or property preferentially transferred is legal in character and hence a jury action, unless there are facts or circumstances that render the legal remedy inadequate * * *.”

See also, 3 *Collier on Bankruptcy* (14th Ed.), Par. 60.60 [1.2].

The action in this case is essentially one at law within the meaning of the Utah Constitutional provision relating to appellate review, and the appeal must be restricted to questions of law. In *Keller v. Deseret Mortuary Company*, 23 Utah 2d 1, 455 P.2d 197 (1969), in

which a trial court finding in a breach of contract was being reviewed, the court said:

“The contract was silent as to the point of dispute just stated. The trial court properly heard extraneous evidence bearing on the issue, which he resolved in favor of the plaintiff. Inasmuch as there is substantial, reasonable and credible evidence to support his finding, it is not our prerogative to upset it. This same well-worn and time-honored rule of review likewise applies to and disposes of the defendant’s contention that the trial court erred in finding that the plaintiff had performed the construction in a good and workmanlike manner; and to the issue raised that the amount of damages awarded was excessive, to which we next direct our attention.”

Thus if there was any substantial evidence to support the findings of fact of the court below, the judgment should be affirmed. Determination of whether there is substantial evidence should be made in light of the fact that the trial court listened to the testimony of the two officers of defendant who were in charge of the branch which handled the transaction, and were directly involved in them.

In *Child v. Child*, 8 Utah 2d 261, 332 P.2d 981 (1958) which was essentially an equitable action the trial court entered a judgment compelling re-conveyance of certain land. On appeal the defendant contended, among other things, that the findings were not supported by the evidence, the plaintiff there having

had the burden of establishing right to re-conveyance by "clear and convincing evidence." In disposing of the contention on appeal, the court said:

" * * * Inasmuch as the burden rests upon the defendants to demonstrate that the trial court was in error, *the findings and judgment should not be disturbed unless we can say affirmatively, and with some degree of assurance, that there is no reasonable base in the evidence upon which he could fairly and rationally have thought that the requisite degree of proof, i.e., by clear and convincing evidence, was met.*" [Emphasis added.]

With respect to the trial court's opportunity to observe the witnesses the court said:

"Passing upon the credibility of witnesses involves to some extent the judging of what goes on in the minds of others and is therefore fraught with uncertainty. * * * [The witness's] appearance and demeanor, his manner of expression and his tone of voice, his apparent frankness and candor, or want of it; his forthrightness in answering, or his tendency to hesitate or evade, and in fact his whole personality go into the composite effect of the testimony. * * * In addition to the personality aspects involved in the interpretation and evaluation of testimony, there are also difficulties to be encountered because of the uncertainties found in the fact situations themselves which must be correlated to the testimony of the witnesses. We have heretofore pointed out the trial court's advantages in judging the credibility of witnesses and determining the facts. It is due to these considerations that

it is firmly established that passing on such matters is exclusively within his province.”

As will be pointed out hereafter, there is sufficient evidence to support the findings made by the trial court — whether the review is at law or in equity.

POINT III

THE EVIDENCE SUPPORTS THE COURT'S FINDINGS THAT THE DEPOSITS MADE BY WHEAT BROS. WERE NOT MADE IN GOOD FAITH AND IN THE REGULAR COURSE OF BUSINESS.

The burden on the appellant in this appeal is to demonstrate that there is no substantial evidence to support the findings of the trial court. The findings relating to the making of the bank deposits were as follows:

“5. On September 21, 1965, Wheat Bros. delivered to the defendant what was designated a deposit in the said checking account. The deposit included, among other things, a check in the amount of \$18,150.00 drawn by Jacobsen Construction Company payable jointly to ‘Wheat Bros. & Kaymac Sales.’

“6. The deposit of said \$18,150.00 check was made by Wheat Bros. and received by defendant for the purpose of clearing all or a portion of the overdraft indebtedness referred to above, and said check was applied by defendant upon payment of said overdraft. * * *

“8. The deposit was not made and received in the ordinary course of business, but for the purpose of paying an antecedent debt.

“9. On October 4, 1965, Wheat Bros. was indebted to defendant on a promissory note in the face [amount] of Five Thousand Dollars, dated May 19, 1965, and with a maturity date of August 17, 1965.

“10. On October 4, 1965, Wheat Bros. left with defendant a deposit in the amount of \$7,384.00 to be placed in its checking account, whereupon the defendant immediately applied \$5,131.25 in payment of the entire principal and interest of said note.

“11. The deposit was not made in the ordinary course of business, but was accepted and received by the defendant for the purpose of applying it immediately in payment of the said promissory note.

“12. At the time of the deposit and the application thereof to the said note, no new consideration was given by the defendant to Wheat Bros. and the deposit was made in payment of an antecedent debt.

“13. On October 18, 1965, Wheat Bros. was indebted to the defendant on a promissory note dated July 13, 1965, in the face amount of \$5,000.00, the note having become due on October 11, 1965.

“14. On or about October 18, 1965, Wheat Bros. left with defendant a deposit of \$4,153.48 to be placed in its checking account, whereupon the defendant immediately applied \$4,050.00 toward payment of the said note.

“15. The deposit was not in the ordinary course of business, but was accepted and received by defendant for the purpose of immediately applying it upon the payment of said promissory note.”

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